IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2010-CC-00170

BERTHA COLLINS

APPELLANT

VS

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MONROE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Alexander J. Simpson, III, MSB Counsel for Appellant NMRLS P.O. Box 139 Tueplo, MS 38802 (662)842-3702

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Certificate of Interested Persons

No. 2010-CC-00170 - Bertha Collins v. Mississippi Department of Employment Security

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the Mississippi Department of Employment Security violated Bertha Collins' right to Due Process of law under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, Article 3 §14 of the Mississippi Constitution, 42 U.S.C.S. §503(a)(3), 42 U.S.C. 1983, and MDES Regulation 200.02 (B)(1)(c) by failing to provide her with proper notice of the precise issues to be determined at her administrative hearing regarding her eligibility for unemployment benefits?
- 2. Whether a single instance of absenteeism without notice to the employer meets the definition of "misconduct" within the meaning of unemployment law?

STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

This case is one of first impression in Mississippi. Important questions of constitutional rights under the "Due Process" clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments are raised, and

oral argument will assist the Court in fully analyzing those issues. This Court's decision will affect the operations of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security and the rights of all citizens of this state attempting to qualify for unemployment benefits.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Bertha Collins, Appellant (hereinafter "Collins") was employed at Tony's Café in Aberdeen, Mississippi from approximately February 1, 2007 until February 17, 2009. (Administrative Record, Page 49) During this two year period, Collins did not receive any warnings, writeups, or reprimands for any work related conduct. (Administrative Record, Page 77) Business has been somewhat slow on holidays at Tony's Café, and the manager would sometimes operate with reduced staff on those days. (Administrative Record, Page 62, 65). The weekend beginning on Friday, February 13, 2009 was a holiday weekend, preceding the President's Day holiday on Monday, February 16, 2009. There was no written schedule posted in the workplace, showing which employees were scheduled to work particular days/shifts. (Administrative Record, Page 60). Collins was instructed by her manager, Teresa Davis, that Collins would be notified by telephone if she was needed to work that Monday. No such call was made, therefore Collins did not report to work, reasonably believing that she was not required to work at that time. (Administrative Record, Page 65). On Tuesday, upon her arrival at work, Collins was accused of failing to report to work on Monday, February 16, 2009. Collins expressed her belief that she was not scheduled or otherwise required to work on that day. Ms. Davis continued to berate Collins, instructed her to leave the premises, and followed Collins from the rear of the location through the dining room, continuing the confrontation to the point that another employee intervened to prevent the situation from escalating. Collins, believing that

her employment had been summarily terminated at the point she was instructed to leave the premises, filed her claim for unemployment benefits. (Administrative Record, Page 65-70)

The Mississippi Department of Employment Security, Appellees, (hereinafter "MDES") denied Collins' claim for benefits, and advised her of said decision via a "Notice of Nonmonetary Determination Decision", ID#282414, mailed on April 6, 2009. Said decision reads, in pertinent part:

You were separated from your employment with Tony's Café on 2/13/2009. An Investigation reveals you were discharged for absenteeism without proper notification to your employer. The reason for your discharge is considered misconduct connected with your work. You failed to respond to our request for information regarding this issue. You are disqualified from receiving Unemployment Insurance benefits beginning 2/17/2009. The disqualification will continue until you have been reemployed and earned \$976.00, which is eight times your weekly benefit amount.

(Administrative Record, Page 11)(Emphasis added).

Collins timely filed an appeal, and the case was scheduled for a telephonic hearing before an Administrative Law Judge on June 19, 2009. Collins then received a "Notice of Telephone Hearing" dated June 8, 2009, which stated:

The issue to be considered is:

1) Whether the Claimant is entitled to unemployment insurance benefits based on the reason for separation from employment; and

2) Whether the Employer's experience rating record is chargeable for benefits; Sections 71-5-513 A (1) and 71-5-355, Mississippi Employment Security Law.

(Administrative Record. Pages 25-26).

ι

7

The hearing was held, Collins appeared with her representative and witnesses, the employer appeared via the above mentioned Ms. Davis and a witness. At said hearing, Ms. Davis admitted that the alleged absenteeism without notice to the employer was not the reason for Collins' termination. (Administrative Record, Page 53). The hearing then addressed matters arising out of an alleged verbal altercation between Collins and Ms. Davis, even though Collins had no prior notice it would be considered at the hearing. The Administrative Law Judge issued a written decision dated June 25, 2009, finding that Collins was discharged for misconduct arising out of the alleged verbal confrontation and thus was ineligible to receive unemployment benefits. Said decision was timely appealed to the Board of Review, which affirmed the Administrative Law Judge by decision dated July 22, 2009. (Record @ 10). Collins then timely appealed to the Circuit Court of Monroe County, Mississippi, which affirmed the Board of Review decision by Order dated January 11, 2010. (Record @ 50-51). This appeal is taken from the Order of the Circuit Court of Monroe County, Mississippi.

Summary of the Argument

It is well settled law that unemployment benefits are a property interest, protected under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article 3, §14 of the Mississippi Constitution. Additionally, claimants are entitled to a "fair hearing" pursuant to 42 U.S.C.S. 503(a)(3). In order to have a fair hearing, with due process, claimants are entitled to actual notice of the **precise issues** to be determined at said hearing.

In this case, Collins was only given notice that her discharge was for absenteeism without notice to her employer, nevertheless, even though the employer admitted that absenteeism was not the reason for her discharge, she was denied benefits by the administrative law judge for misconduct arising out of an alleged verbal altercation occurring after the absenteeism. Collins had no notice that the alleged verbal altercation would be discussed or considered at the administrative hearing.

The "Notice of Telephone Hearing" is actually less informative than the earlier "Notice of Non Monetary Decision", and violates the plain meaning of MDES Regulation 200.02 (B)(1) (c), which provides:

(1) Contents of the Notice of Hearing:

(a) A statement of the legal authority and jurisdiction under which the proceeding is being conducted;

(b) A reference to the applicable statutes and rules;

(c) A statement of the issues to be decided;

(d) A statement of the time (and if in person the place) of the hearing;

(e) A phone number that the parties must call the day before and leave their phone contact number for the time of the hearing.

Said notice given to Collins only advised her that the issue to be considered was whether she was eligible for unemployment benefits based on the reason for separation, but fails to identify precisely what the reason for separation was. Under a literal reading, the "Notice of Telephone Hearing" advises Collins that the hearing will address any reason she may have been terminated from her job. The law requires more than that. Even reading the "Notice of Non Monetary Decision" in conjunction with the "Notice of Telephone Hearing" and giving MDES the benefit of any doubt as to what notice was provided, they gave Collins notice of one reason for her termination, and then denied her benefits for a completely different reason. This "issue

i

100

switching" violates Collins right to Due Process by denying her a fair hearing, where she could present a defense to the precise issues to be considered. She cannot be expected to adequately prepare a defense against issues she has no notice will be considered. State and Federal case law is clear. Collins is entitled to have notice of the **precise issues** to be decided at her administrative hearing, and the failure to provide such notice violates Collins' Constitutional and Statutory rights. (Citations provided in the Argument section of this brief).

The only meaningful notice provided to Collins was that she was discharged for absenteeism without notice to the employer, and even that notice was not contained in the "Notice of Telephone Hearing" as is required by MDES regulations.

Even if the hearing had only addressed the issue of absenteeism without notice to the employer, MDES could not have disqualified her from receiving benefits, because a single, isolated incident of absenteeism, particularly one where there was clearly a misunderstanding about whether Collins was required to work a particular day, does not meet the definition of "misconduct" under the unemployment law of this State.

This Court should reverse the decision of the Circuit Court of Monroe County, declare the notice provided to Collins inadequate as a matter of law, and award Collins her unemployment benefits retroactive to February 17, 2009.

<u>Argument</u>

ł

<u>Whether the Mississippi Department of Employment Security violated Bertha</u> <u>Collins' right to Due Process of law under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment to the</u> <u>United States Constitution, Article 3 §14 of the Mississippi Constitution, 42 U.S.C.S.</u>

§503(a)(3), and MDES Regulation 200.02 (B)(1)(c) by failing to provide her with proper notice of the precise issues to be determined at her administrative hearing regarding her eligibility for unemployment benefits?

The receipt of unemployment insurance benefits is a property right entitled to Due Process protection. *Ross v. Horn, 598 F. 2d 1312, 1317-1318 (3rd Cir. 1979), cert denied 448 U.S. 906 (1980). See also Fusari v. Steinberg, 419 U.S. 379, rehearing denied 420 U.S. 955 (1980).* The Social Security Act, as codified at 42 U.S.C.S. 503 (a)(3) provides similar protection by requiring a "fair hearing" before an impartial tribunal, for all individuals whose claim for unemployment benefits is denied. *Camacho v.Bowling, (1983, ND ILL), 562 F. Supp 1012.* Whether the "fair hearing" requirement has been met is determined under the same standards as constitutional procedural due process. *Id. Citing Ross, Supra at 1318 N4. See Also Wilkinson v. Abrams, 627 F 2d 650, 653 (3rd Cir, 1980); Carmona v. Sheffield, 475 F. 2d 738, 739 (9th Circuit, 1973). <i>Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254, 268.*

A fundamental requirement of procedural due process in the context of an unemployment hearing is adequate notice of the claims of adverse parties and the opportunity to meet them. Adequate notice must advise a claimant of the facts and evidence on which an agency intends to act, in order that the claimant may adequately prepare and present a defense and/or response. *Camacho, Supra @ 1020, citing Hess & Clark, Division of Rhodia, Inc. v. Food and Drug Administration 161 U.S. APP D.C. 395 (DC Cir. 1974).* The United States Supreme Court has held that a party must be notified in advance of the **precise issues** to be raised in an administrative hearing. *In Re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. 544 (1968).*

In Ruffalo, an attorney facing disbarment proceedings was notified of thirteen separate

i.

charges that would be considered by the disciplinary committee. During the hearing, a previously undisclosed fourteenth issue came to light during the attorney's testimony. The committee then proceeded to inquire further into this fourteenth issue as well as the previous thirteen charges. After the hearing, the committee entered an order of disbarment against Ruffalo, relying in part on the fourteenth issue. Ruffalo had no advance notice that the fourteenth issue would be considered at his hearing. The United States Supreme Court, on review, held that the "absence of fair notice as to the reach of the grievance procedure and the **precise nature of the charges** deprived petitioner of procedural due process." *88 S. Ct. @ 1226.* (Emphasis added).

The Eighth Circuit reached a similar conclusion in *Navato v.Sletten*, *560 F.2d 340 (8th Cir. 1977).* In this case, a teaching hospital advised an intern that he faced a disciplinary hearing concerning his performance, including a lack of concern for patients, over scheduling, improper record keeping and poor judgment. At the hearing, however, the hospital raised other concerns, including the interns alleged fostering of discontent among other students, a failure to cooperate in "on call" scheduling, and alleged statements indicating the intern hoped to be terminated from the program rather than resign, in order to avoid the payback provisions of his contract. After the hearing, the hospital placed the intern on probation and required him to repeat part of his training. On appeal, the Eighth Circuit found that because he was not given prior notice of the **precise issues** to be determined at his hearing, his procedural due process rights were violated. The Court observed "since the right to be heard is of little value unless one is informed as to the matter which is pending, procedural due process requires that some kind of prior notice be given." *Id. at 346.*

In an unemployment context, the Camacho Court reasoned that "Ruffalo and Navato

establish that adequate notice must identify the precise issues to be raised so that a specific, responsive, and complete defense may be presented". Supra at 1021. (Emphasis added) In Camacho, Steven Flowers and Carmen Camacho were named plaintiffs in a class action suit against the Illinois Department of Labor and others. Both named plaintiffs appealed a denial of unemployment benefits premised on their inability at the hearing, without any prior notice, to demonstrate compliance with Illinois' "available and actively seeking work" requirement for unemployment benefits. Flowers was notified that his hearing would consider his reasons for leaving his job, and Camacho was notified that her hearing would consider whether she was guilty of misconduct. Neither plaintiff received prior notice that the "available for and actively seeking work" requirement would be an issue to be decided at the hearing. The plaintiffs had filed biweekly reports with the Department of Labor listing each place they'd applied for work, and apparently believed that issue had already been resolved in their favor. In both administrative hearings, the referee determined that the claimants were eligible to receive unemployment benefits based on the reasons for separation from employment. Flowers had a medical reason to guit working, and Camacho was not guilty of misconduct. However, the referee then required each plaintiff to demonstrate compliance with Illinois' requirement that a claimant be available for and actively seeking work. The bi-weekly reports plaintiffs filed with the Department of Labor were not available to the Referee, nor were they available to plaintiffs at the hearing. Plaintiffs were expected to recall, on the spot, numerous company names and addresses where they'd applied for work over the weeks and months prior to the administrative hearing. Neither plaintiff was able to recall sufficient details to persuade the Referee that they'd been "available for and actively seeking work", and he denied their claims for unemployment benefits for that reason. The Court,

citing *Matthews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S Ct 893 (1976) applied a three prong test in evaluating plaintiffs procedural due process claim:

- 1. The private interest that will be effected by the official action.
- 2. The risk of erroneous deprivation and the probable value, if any, of additional or substituted procedural safeguards; and
- 3. The Government's interest, including the function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substituted procedural requirement would entail.

Camacho, Supra at 1023-1024. The Court found the private interest a claimant has in receiving unemployment benefits to be high, considering the need for a steady source of income to support family, health, and home. The risk of erroneous deprivation is high especially where an unprepared claimant, possibly uneducated, finds himself before a Referee demanding specific answers to detailed questions claimant had no reason to believe would be at issue in his hearing. The fiscal and administrative burdens imposed on the government are minimal. Two additional sentences in the Notice of Hearing provided to the plaintiffs would have provided adequate notice to them that the "available for and actively seeking work" requirement would be considered at the hearing. The Court then held that the Illinois Department of Labor had violated plaintiff's rights to procedural due process by failing to provide them with adequate notice of the **precise issues** to be decided at the administrative hearing. Remedies were to be considered in the second part of the case.

In this case, Collins did not receive adequate notice of the **precise nature** of the charges against her. Applying the *Matthews* test, as the *Camacho* Court did, this Court should find that Collins has a strong private interest in receiving her unemployment benefits. As recognized in §71-5-3, *Miss. Code Ann.*, a stable source of income is necessary to secure the health, morals, and

welfare of the people of this state:

As a guide to the interpretation and application of this chapter, the public policy of this state is declared to be as follows: Economic insecurity due to unemployment is a serious menace to the health, morals, and welfare of the people of this state. Involuntary unemployment is therefore a subject of general interest and concern which requires appropriate action by the legislature to prevent its spread and to lighten its burden, which now so often falls with crushing force upon the unemployed worker and his family. The achievement of social security requires protection against this greatest hazard of our economic life. This can be provided by encouraging employers to provide more stable employment and by the systematic accumulation of funds during periods of employment to provide benefits for periods of unemployment, thus maintaining purchasing power and limiting the serious social consequences of poor relief assistance. The legislature, therefore, declares that in its considered judgment the public good and the general welfare of the citizens of this state require the enactment of this measure, under the police powers of the state, for the compulsory setting aside of unemployment reserves to be used for the benefit of persons unemployed through no fault of their own.

The risk of erroneous deprivation is high, because Collins had no opportunity to prepare a response to the actual charges against her, was initially denied by the claims examiner for absenteeism without notification, and then the administrative law judge denied her claim for benefits for a completely different reason that was never identified in the Notice Collins received. Worse, the notices Collins received were misleading, in that either the administrative law judge would consider only the issue of absenteeism, or that the administrative law judge would consider any possible reason she might be ineligible to receive unemployment benefits. Had Collins received additional witnesses, prepared additional lines of questioning for the witnesses against her, and presented legal argument addressing the non-noticed issues.

The fiscal and administrative burden on MDES would be minimal. Their own regulations, as well as 42 U.S.C. §503(a)(3), require that claimants be given adequate and fair notice of the issues to be determined at an administrative hearing. A few sentences added to the

Notice of Telephone Hearing would have sufficed to inform Collins that she was accused of more than mere absenteeism without notice to her employer. Collins has a strong interest in receiving her unemployment benefits, the risk of erroneous deprivation is high, and the fiscal and administrative burden that would be imposed on MDES is minimal, therefore this Court should find that MDES violated Collins' right to procedural due process by failing to provide her with adequate notice of the **precise charges** against her. This Court should reverse the decision of the Circuit Court of Monroe County, declare the notice provided was inadequate as a matter of law, and award unemployment benefits to Collins retroactive to February 17, 2009.

<u>Whether a single instance of absenteeism without notice to the employer meets the</u> definition of "misconduct" within the meaning of unemployment law?

This Court has defined misconduct as applied to unemployment cases:

"The meaning of the term 'misconduct', as used in the Unemployment Compensation Statute, was conduct evidencing such willful and wanton disregard of the employer's interest as is found in deliberate violations or disregard of the standards of behavior which the employer has a right to expect from his employees. Also, carelessness and negligence of such degree, or recurrence thereof, as to manifest culpability, wrongful intent, or evil design, and showing an intentional or substantial disregard of the employer's interest or of the employee's duties and obligations to his employer, came within the term. Mere inefficiency, unsatisfactory conduct, failure in good performance as the result of inability or incapacity, or inadvertencies and ordinary negligence in isolated incidents, and good faith errors in judgment or discretion were not considered 'misconduct' within the meaning of the statute."

Wheeler v. Arriola, 408 So. 2d 1381 (Miss. 1982). Applying that definition, this court has held that an employee who reasonably believed her employment had been terminated did not commit misconduct by failing to report to work thereafter. See Huckabee v Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 735 So 2d 290 (1999). Further, this Court has held that a single incident is insufficient to disqualify a terminated employee from receiving unemployment benefits for misconduct. *Mississippi Employment Security Commission v. McClane-Southern, Inc., 583 So.* 2d 626. (1991). Likewise, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has held that a single incident is insufficient to disqualify a terminated employee from receiving unemployment benefits for misconduct. See Acy v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 960 So. 2d 592 (COA 2007) and Gordon v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 864 So. 2d 1013, (COA 2004).

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