IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

CASE NO. 2010-CC-00170

BERTHA COLLINS

APPELLANT

V.

CASE NO. 2010-CC-00170

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MONROE COUNTY
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

OF COUNSEL:

Facsimile:

ALBERT BOZEMAN WHITE
ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL
MS BAR NO
MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY
POST OFFICE BOX 1699
JACKSON, MS 39215-1699
Telephone: (601) 321-6073

(601) 321-6076

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the case of Wheeler v. Arriola, 408 So.2d 1381 (Miss. 1982), the Supreme Court adopted the following definition of misconduct in unemployment benefit cases, to-wit:

The meaning of the term "misconduct", as used in the unemployment compensation statute, was conduct evincing such willful and wanton disregard of the employer's interest as is found in deliberate violations or disregard of the standards of behavior which the employer has the right to expect from his employees... (emphasis added).

The case authorities consistently hold that one willful and wanton, or grossly negligent, violation of reasonable Employer policy or standards of behavior may constitute disqualifying misconduct. Mississippi Employment Security Commission vs. Percy, 641 So.2d 1172 (Miss. 1994); Henry v. Mississippi Department of Employment Security, 962 So. 2d 94 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007); Ray v. Bivens, 562 So. 2d 119 (Miss. 1990).

In the instant case, Ms. Collins was discharged for willful and wanton misconduct for violating Employer's policy prohibiting inappropriate behavior at the job site, justifying immediate discharge. The Employer's owner's testimony, Teresa Davis, established when she confronted Ms. Collins about failing to report to work the day before, Ms. Collins became agitated, irate, and used profanity. Further, although Ms. Collins' testimony indicated that there may have been some confusion over whether or not she was scheduled to work on the previous day, she admitted to getting involved in a verbal altercation with Ms. Davis, her employer. When Ms. Collins was instructed to leave the premises, she continued to argue with Ms. Davis, and did so in front of customers. Ms. Davis then testified that when Ms. Collins raised her voice and shoved her, she was discharged.

Since the testimony substantially supports the Board of Review and Circuit Court Decisions

that Ms. Collins committed disqualifying misconduct by willfully and wantonly violating the Employer's policy prohibiting inappropriate behavior at the job site, this Honorable Court should affirm, based upon the standard of review on appeal. Richardson v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 593 So.2d 31 (1992); Booth v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 588 So.2d 422 (Miss. 1991).

ARGUMENT

Ms. Collins' appeal is governed by Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-531 (Rev.2009), which provides for appeals by any party aggrieved by the decision of the Board of Review or Circuit Court. Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-531 states that the appeals court shall consider the record made before the Board of Review and, absent fraud, shall accept the findings of fact if supported by substantial evidence, and the correct law has been applied. (Emphasis added). Richardson v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 593 So.2d 31 (1992); Barnett v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 583 So.2d 193 (Miss. 1991); Booth v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 588 So.2d 422 (Miss. 1991).

Further, a rebuttal presumption exists in favor of the Board of Review's decision and the challenging party has the burden of proving otherwise. <u>Allen v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission</u>, 639 So.2d 904 (Miss. 1994). The appeals court must not reweigh the facts nor insert its judgment for that of the agency. <u>Id.</u>

Further, misconduct imports conduct that reasonable and fair minded external observers would consider wanton disregard of the employer's legitimate interests. <u>Mississippi Employment</u> Security Commission v. Phillips, 562 So.2d 115, 118 (Miss. 1990).

In the instant case, Teresa Davis, Owner, testified on behalf of the Employer. (R. Vol 2 p. 48-53). Mr. Davis testified that Ms. Collins worked for the company from the end of October, 2008, to February 17, 2009. (R. Vol 2 p. 49). She was a waitress at the time she was discharged. (R. Vol 2 p. 49). Ms. Collins worked Monday thru Friday, from 10:00 a.m. until 2:00 p.m. (R. Vol 2 p. 49).

Ms. Davis was questioned as to why Ms. Collins was discharged. Ms. Davis stated that Ms. Collins was discharged because of a verbal and physical altercation that took place on February 17,

2009. When Ms. Davis questioned Ms. Collins about missing work on the previous day, Ms. Collins became agitated, irate, and pointed a finger in her face. (R. Vol 2 p. 50-51). She explained that she asked Ms. Collins to go home, and then proceeded to go to the front of the restaurant. Ms. Collins followed her out to the front of the restaurant, continuing to argue with Ms. Davis, raising her voice, and shoved her. (R. Vol 2 p. 51-52).

Ms. Davis was asked whether there were any witnesses to any of the incidents described. She explained that everyone in the kitchen saw Ms. Collins put her finger in her face, and heard everything that was said. (R. Vol 2 p. 52). She further testified that Ms. Collins would not have been discharged if it were not for the behavior described. (R. Vol 2 p. 53).

Ms. Tawanna Collins testified next. (R. Vol 2 p. 55-62). Ms. T. Collins stated that she was a buffet cook at Tony's Café, and Ms. Collins' sister. (R. Vol 2 p. 55). Ms. T. Collins testified that she was present when the altercation between Ms. Davis and Ms. Collins took place, and that after a brief discussion about Ms. Collins missing work the previous day, both parties began shouting at one another. (R. Vol 2 p. 56). On cross-examination by Employer Representative, Ms. T. Collins stated that Ms. Davis told Ms. Collins to leave the restaurant, and that Ms. Collins did follow Ms. Davis to the front of the restaurant and continued the verbal altercation (R. Vol 2 p. 57-58). On cross-examination by the Claimant, Ms. T. Collins testified that she heard both parties using profanity. (R. Vol 2 p. 59-60).

Ms. Collins testified next. (R. Vol 2 p. 63-76). She stated that she had a set work schedule from 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m., Monday thru Friday. (R. Vol 2 p. 63-64).

Ms. Collins was then questioned about the incident on February 16, 2009. She admitted to arguing with Ms. Davis in the kitchen, but denied pointing her finger in Ms. Davis' face. (R. Vol 2

p. 68). Ms. Collins also admitted that the altercation continued in the front of the restaurant, and admitted to using profanity. (R. Vol 2 p. 68-69). She denied shoving, or otherwise touching, Ms. Davis. (R. Vol 2 p. 69).

Ms. Collins was then cross-examined by Mr. Stanfield, her attorney. (R. Vol 2 p. 71).

Ms. Collins was then re-directed by the ALJ. Ms. Collins was questioned as to whether she personally spoke to Ms. Davis about working on Monday. Ms. Collins admitted that Ms. Davis spoke only to Ms. T. Collins. (R. Vol 2 p. 75).

Ms. Linda Gates was the last to testify. (R. Vol 2 p. 78-84). She stated that she was a friend of Ms. Collins, and was at work and witnessed the infraction on February 17, 2009. (R. Vol 2 p. 79). She stated that after Ms. Davis questioned Ms. Collins about missing work the previous day, the two began arguing in the kitchen. (R. Vol 2 p. 80). She observed Ms. Davis and Ms. Collins arguing in the front of the restaurant, and observed Ms. T. Collins having to get between the two at one point. (R. Vol 2 p. 81). Ms. Gates did not witness any physical altercation. (R. Vol 2 p. 81).

The instant case is akin to the misconduct line of cases involving a grossly negligent, or willful and wanton, and substantial or serious disregard of an employee's job duties, and the employer's interest. In these cases, the behavior causing termination is within the capacity and control of the employee, is a serious disregard of work-related duties, and constitutes misconduct. See Henry v. Mississippi Dept. of Employment Sec., 962 So. 2d 94 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (security guard's disregard of duties justified termination for misconduct); Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n. v. Percy, 641 So.2d 1172 (Miss. 1994) (a nurse was terminated for violating the employer's policy requiring that she appropriately complete time sheets); Sojourner v. Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n, 744 So. 2d 796 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (security guard's failure to follow policy

prohibiting remaining on property after shift hours constituted misconduct); Young v. Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n, 754 So. 2d 464 (Miss. 1999) (employee's refusal to turn in her employee identification badge during a suspension constituted insubordination); Halbert v. City of Columbus, 722 So. 2d 522 (Miss. 1998) (an employee's refusal to submit to a random drug test constituted insubordination).

Analogously, in <u>Swinney v. Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 910 So.2d 742 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005), the Claimant was discharged for inappropriate behavior on the job. In this case, Swinney was involved in an argument with a manager, at which time she became verbally abusive to him. She was terminated the same day. The Board of Review disqualified Swinney from receiving benefits, finding that she was fired for disrespecting authority and insubordination, both of which constituted misconduct. Swinney appealed to the Circuit Court of Leflore County, and Mississippi Court of Appeals, both of which affirmed. <u>Id</u>.

In Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n and Yazoo Industries v. Hudson, 757 So.2d 1010 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000), the Mississippi Court of Appeals held that uttering of vulgar obscenities by the claimant directed at her supervisor constituted insubordination and misconduct, and thus the claimant was not entitled to unemployment compensation. Hudson was terminated for insubordination when she verbally confronted her team leader and supervisor after she was given a new job assignment. The obscenities continued until the floor supervisor intervened, and employees of Yazoo Industries ceased their production to witness the disturbance. During the claims examiner's investigation, Hudson admitted that she had used profanity during the confrontation, but asserted that she was provoked into cursing by her team leader.

The Board of Review ruled that Hudson's conduct amounted to insubordination which

constituted disqualifying misconduct. The decision to deny benefits was based on Hudson's refusal to perform her assigned tasks and for her use of profanity directed towards her team leader and supervisor. Ms Hudson appealed to the Circuit Court of Yazoo County. The Circuit Court reversed the Board of Review's decision, concluding that while substantial evidence existed to support the referee's factual findings that Ms. Hudson was insubordinate, such an "isolated incident in which profanity was used towards a superior is not tantamount to misconduct under the law." Id. On appeal to the Mississippi Court of Appeals, the court reversed, finding that Ms. Hudson inappropriately reacted to her supervisor's repeated orders to perform authorized and reasonable tasks. The Court of Appeals ruled that Ms. Hudson's behavior constituted disqualifying misconduct, because Ms. Hudson escalated the confrontation, used vulgar obscenities, and directed them towards her supervisor. Since the encounter went so far as to briefly disrupt other employees, the Court held that "such unreasonable conduct could only be characterized as a wanton disregard of the employer's legitimate interests and is conduct which runs counter to the behavior which the employer has the right to expect from his employee." Id.

In the instant case, Ms. Davis reasonably questioned her employee, Ms. Collins, about missing work the previous day. Ms. Collins admitted that her normal work schedule included Mondays, and also admitted that Ms. Davis never personally told her not to come to work. (R. Vol 2 p. 63-64, 75). Objecting to the Employer questioning, Ms. Collins used profanity, directed at her supervisor, in the front of the restaurant, in front of patrons as well as other employees. (R. Vol 2 p. 57-58, 68-69). At one point, Ms. T. Collins, another employee, had to separate the two. (R. Vol 2 p. 81).

Ms. Collins had every opportunity to remove herself from the situation. Her employer, Ms.

Davis, asked her repeatedly to leave the premises, but Ms. Collins refused and continued arguing with Ms. Davis, even following her to the front of the restaurant. There Ms. Collins used profanity in front of customers. (R. Vol 2 p. 57-58, 69). This conduct constitutes a willful and wanton disregard of the employer's legitimate interests, is conduct which runs counter to the behavior which the employer has the right to expect from an employee, and, as such, constitutes misconduct.

RESPONSE TO DUE PROCESS ARGUMENT

The Claimant's counsel argues that the Court should reverse because the Claimant was not sufficiently apprized of the issues to be considered at the ALJ's hearing, citing <u>Booth v. Mississippi</u> <u>Employment Security Commission</u>, 588 So.2d 422, 427-28 (Miss. 1991). However, <u>Booth, supra</u>, provides that minimum due process is applicable to unemployment insurance cases and appeals; and due process is satisfied if notice is reasonably calculated to apprize the interested parties of the hearing. <u>Id</u>.

In that regard, Ms. Collins was informed in a letter entitled "Administrative Law Judge acknowledgment of Appeal Filed" that the hearing would be a "de novo" hearing. (R. Vol 2 p. 23). Further, in the Notice of Telephone Hearing, Ms. Collins was informed that the issue to be considered was: "(1) whether the Claimant is entitled to unemployment insurance benefits based on the reason for separation from employment...". (R. Vol 2 p. 25-26). Further, attachments included instructions to the Claimant. (R. Vol 2 p. 29-31). Finally, the Claimant was represented by counsel at the hearing. Her attorney, Mr. Stanfield, was twice given an opportunity to voice any objections to the procedure at the hearing; and he did not. (R. Vol 2 p. 48, 86).

Thus, it is apparent that the Claimant was afforded, at least, minimum due process in this matter; and the Claimant's counsel's appeal or objections based upon due process grounds should be denied.

CONCLUSION

The testimony establishes that Ms. Collins did not think it necessary to report to work on Monday, February 16, 2009, although her schedule required it. Never, at any point, did Ms. Davis tell Ms. Collins not to come to work. The testimony also established that upon questioning about her unexplained absence, Ms. Collins became agitated, irate, repeatedly objected, and used profanity in the workplace, in front of customers. Based upon the record, there is substantial evidence supporting MDES's decision that Ms. Collins knew or should have known her actions violated the Employer's policy. Thus, this Honorable Court, as an appellate court, should accept the Circuit Court's and Board's Decision; and affirm.